Supreme Court No. 90600-6

COA No. 71730-8-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Derek J. Young, Petitioner

v.

Department of Labor and Industries, Respondent,

and

CMS Painting, Inc., Defendant.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Tim Friedman WSBA 37983 Ron Meyers WSBA 13169 Matt Johnson, WSBA 27976 Attorneys for Petitioner

Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln NE, Ste A, Lacey, WA 98516 (360) 459-5600

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER					
В.	DECISION					
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW					
D.	STATEM	ENT OF THE CASE2				
E.	ARGUME	NT WE	HY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED6			
	1.	The construction and administration of the Industrial Insurance Act, and the Court and evidence rules, is of significant public importance				
		a.	The issues for which review is sought are of a public nature			
		b.	The issues for which review is sought are likely to recur			
		c.	An authoritative determination by the Supreme Court giving guidance is desirable15			
	2.	or her govern	olation of due process rights of injured workers in his ability to prosecute a worker's compensation claim ned by the Act is a significant question of law under ashington State Constitution			
	3.	Whether the Department is the equivalent of a successor in interest to the tortfeasor who caused the industrial injury is of significant public importance				
		a.	The issues for which review is sought are of a public nature, likely to recur, and an authoritative determination by the Supreme Court giving guidance is desirable			

F. CONCLUSION	20	
APPENDIX A		
	Court of Appeals Opinion A-1 to A-15	
APPENDIX B		
	Washington State Constitution Article 1 Section 3	
	Washington State Constitution Article 4	
	RCW 51.12.010	
	RCW 51.04.010	
	RCW 51.24.030	
	RCW 51.24.050	
	RCW 51.52.100	
	WAC 263-12-117	
	WAC 263-12-115	
	WA St. Sup. Ct. Rule 32	
	WA St. Sup. Ct. Rule 1	

WA St. Evidence Rule 102

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Buffelen Woodworking Co. v. Cook 28 Wn. App. 501, 505, 625 P.2d 703 (1981), quoting, Mathews v.
Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976)14,16,17
Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance 131 Wn.2d 484, 498, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997)13
Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash. 109 Wash. 2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987)
Federated Publications, Inc. v. Kurtz 94 Wash.2d 51, 54, 615 P.2d 440 (1980)
Hastings v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. 24 Wash. 2d 1, 12, 163 P.2d 142 (1945)
In re Dependency of H. 71 Wash. App. 524, 528, 859 P.2d 1258 (1993)
In re Marriage of Horner 151 Wash. 2d 884, 892, 93 P.3d 124, 129 (2004)
Iverson v. Marine Bancorp oration 83 Wash. 2d 163, 167, 517 P.2d 197 (1973)
Petrarca v. Halligan 83 Wn.2d 773, 522 P.2d 827 (1974)." 5 Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice § 102.1 (5th ed.)
Robles v. Department of Labor & Indus. 48 Wn. App. 490, 494, 739 P.2d 727 (1987)
Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC 167 Wash. 2d 781, 796, 225 P.3d 213,(2009)

State ex rel. Puget Sound Navigation Co. v. Department of Transportation 33 Wn.2d 448, 206 P.2d 456 (1949)
Statutes RCW 51.04.010
RCW 51.12.010
RCW 51.24.030
RCW 51.24.060
RCW 51.24.060(1)
RCW 51.32.080
RCW 51.52.100
TITLE 51
WAC 263-12-115
WAC 263-12-117 5
WAC 296-20-280
Other Authority 12
CR 32 12
CR 32(a)(5)(B)
ER 102 12 13

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Derek Young asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this Petition.

B. DECISION

A copy of the Court of Appeals decision, filed on July 7, 2014 is reproduced in the Appendix to the Petition at pages A1-A15.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Even if the Department of Labor and Industries ("Department") is not a "successor in interest" to a third party tortfeasor in the technical sense of CR32(a), does it contravene and undermine the strong public policy of the Industrial Insurance Act to exclude from the injured worker's case-in-chief at his Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals hearing the testimony from his independent medical experts simply because the attorney general was not given notice, when the testimony was perpetuated in the injured worker's prior third party action, and when that prior third party action was a tort action for personal injury damages to the injured worker arising out of the industrial injury, and when the depositions were attended and defended vigorously with cross examination by the third party tortfeasor's attorney?
- 2. Does it violate an injured worker's due process rights to his property interest in injured worker benefits when at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals hearing and in the Superior Court, the injured worker is denied the admission of two perpetuation depositions of his independent medical experts that were taken without notice to the attorney general, but when the perpetuation depositions were taken in the injured worker's prior third party action, and when that prior third party action was a tort action for personal injury damages to the injured worker arising out of the industrial injury, and when the depositions were attended and vigorously defended in cross examination by the tortfeasor's attorney, and when rather than allow the already perpetuated testimony, the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals offer the injured worker the 'opportunity' to delay his case and incur the expense of calling his experts for a second time to re-give their testimony?

3. When an injured worker pursues a worker's compensation claim under the Industrial Insurance Act and pursues a third party civil action against the tortfeasor who caused the same industrial injury, is the Department the equivalent of a successor in interest to the third party tortfeasor under the liberal application of the Industrial Insurance Act?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 27, 2007, Petitioner Derek Young sustained an industrial injury when he was in a vehicle that was struck from behind by another driver. *CP24*, 33. He was working for CMS Painting, Inc. at the time of injury. *Id*.

Mr. Young filed an Application for Benefits with the Department on August 28, 2007 for injuries he sustained in the June 27, 2007 collision while in the course and scope of his employment. *CP 49*. His claim was allowed by Department order dated September 6, 2007. *Id.* On September 18, 2008, the Department ordered time loss compensation paid through September 17, 2008. *CP 50*. On September 19, 2008, the Department ordered the claim closed with no further medical treatment and no award of permanent partial disability. *Id.* Mr. Young timely filed a Notice of Appeal with the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("Board") on November 17, 2008. *Id.* Two days later, the Department ordered the September 19, 2008 order held in abeyance for further reconsideration. *Id.* On December 15, 2008, the Board denied the Petitioner's appeal due to the Department's reconsideration of the

September 19, 2008 order. *Id.* On December 31, 2008, the Department affirmed its Order dated September 19, 2008. *Id.* The Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal with the Board on January 12, 2009. *Id.*

The Board granted the Petitioner's appeal by order dated January 20, 2009. *CP 44*. The Petitioner sought recusal of the assigned industrial insurance appeals judge on multiple occasions. *CP 67 - 68; CP 72 - 77; CP* 327(24) - 328(20).

The Petitioner brought a third party tort action against the negligent driver on June 17, 2009. *CP 122*. The Department was notified of the third party action. *CP 131, 227*. In the course of the third party action, board certified orthopedic surgeon Patrick Bays, DO, conducted an independent medical examination of Mr. Young on December 4, 2009. *CP 122,138*. Dr. Bays' perpetuation deposition was conducted in the third party action on May 10, 2010. *CP 135*.

Also in the course of the third party action, board certified Occupational Therapist Dawn Jones performed a Functional Capacity Evaluation of the Petitioner on March 25, 2010. *CP 122, 177.* Her perpetuation deposition was taken in the third party action on May 27, 2010. *CP 177.*

The tortfeasor's attorney was present and defended by objections and cross examination both Dr. Bays' and Occupational Therapist Jones' perpetuation depositions. *CP 135-155, 177-188*. The defense attorney defended the expert witnesses aggressively as to liability, proximate cause, and damages. *Id, also CP 130*.

Mr. Young properly disclosed Dr. Bays and Occupational Therapist Jones at the administrative level, and the Department was provided all necessary information pursuant to its discovery requests, including the written reports of Dr. Bays and Occupational Therapist Jones. *CP 122, 130,131, 259*. Extensive responses to Request for Production were also provided by Mr. Young to the Department. *CP 130, 274*.

The Department was aware of, and participated in, the third party litigation, including the mediation that ultimately resolved the civil claim. *CP 130.* Mr. Young timely filed and served a Witness Confirmation in the Board action, which included Dr. Bays and Occupational Therapist Jones. *CP 291:25-28.*

On September 21, 2010, the Department moved the Board to exclude the preservation depositions of Dr. Bays and Dawn Jones OTR/L, as the attorney general was not notified of their depositions in the third party matter. CP 110-115. At the October 12, 2010 Board hearing, the Board judge

excluded their testimony. *CP 292:20-22*. On December 10, 2010 Mr. Young brought a motion asking for Dr. Bays' medical examination report and perpetuation deposition to be admitted as exhibits. *CP 298-300*. In the Proposed Decision and Order dated February 16, 2011, the Board judge denied the motion. *CP 24:19-27*.

The Board's decision to exclude the reports and testimony of Mr. Young's independent medical experts left Mr. Young with only the medical testimony of his treating Chiropractor, Jay Sweet DC. *CP 23*. The Attorney General presented two defense medical experts, a neurosurgeon and a chiropractor, in its case-in-chief. *CP 446*, *CP 513*, *CP 27-28*.

The Board issued a Proposed Decision and Order on February 16, 2011, affirming the Department's December 31, 2008 order and ruled that Mr. Young's industrial injuries did not require further medical treatment as of June 26, 2008; that he was not a totally and temporarily disabled worker during the period between September 18, 2008 and December 31, 2008; that the Department did not abuse its discretion when it did not provide vocational rehabilitation; and that Mr. Young's residual impairment is best described as Category 1 for categories for permanent dorso-lumbar and lumbosacral impairments, per RCW 51.32.080 and WAC 296-20-280. *CP 34:15-24*. Mr. Young timely filed a Petition for Review on March 7, 2011. *CP 11 - 16*. On

March 21, 2011, the Board denied the Petition and ordered that its Decision and Order become *the* Decision and Order on March 21, 2011. *CP 9*.

Mr. Young timely appealed the Board's Decision and Order to the Superior Court on April 7, 2011. *CP 1 - 2*. In the Superior Court, Mr. Young moved for summary judgment requesting the Court reverse the Board's exclusion of his independent medical experts. *CP 594 – 607*. The Superior Court denied the motion. *CP 823 - 826*. Mr. Young's trial hearing in Superior Court was held on July 6, 2012 and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment were presented six months later on January 25, 2013. *CP at 883 - 886*.

Mr. Young timely appealed the Superior Court's decision to the Appellate Court. The Appellate Court's opinion of July 7, 2014, affirmed the Superior Court's ruling. The decisions of the Board and lower courts are contrary to Washington's strong public policy favoring injured workers.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The construction and administration of the Industrial Insurance Act, and the court and evidence rules, is of significant public importance.

The Washington Supreme Court should grant review because of the *substantial public interest* involved in the construction and administration of the Industrial Insurance Act ("Act").

"In deciding whether case presents issues of continuing and substantial public interest,[t]hree factors in particular are determinative: "(1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature; (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur". A fourth factor may also play a role: the "level of genuine adverseness and the quality of advocacy of the issues". Lastly, the court may consider "the likelihood that the issue will escape review because the facts of the controversy are short-lived" Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC, 167 Wash. 2d 781, 796, 225 P.3d 213,(2009).. Citing In re Marriage of Horner, 151 Wash.2d 884, 892, 93 P.3d 124 (2004)(citations omitted) (quoting Westerman, 125 Wash.2d at 286–87, 892 P.2d 1067).

Each and every injured Washington worker, including Mr. Young, are entitled to the strong public policy favoring injured workers set forth in case law and the Act, which requires a liberal construction of the Act. This policy must be applied at all levels in the injured worker's fight for benefits. It must be adhered to by all government entitles, including the Department, the Attorney General, the Board and the lower Courts.

The legislature mandated that the Act, that is, Title 51,

"shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." RCW 51.12.010.

The above policy was echoed by the Washington Supreme Court,

"It has been repeatedly stated by this court that the Workmen's Compensation Act is highly remedial in character and, as such, is to be liberally construed with a view to the accomplishment of its beneficent purposes." *Hastings v. Dep't*

of Labor & Indus., 24 Wash. 2d 1, 12, 163 P.2d 142 (1945). Citing State ex rel. Crabb v. Olinger, 196 Wash. 308, 82 P.2d 865; Campbell v. Department of Labor and Industries, 2 Wash.2d 173, 97 P.2d 642; Nelson v. Department of Labor and Industries, 9 Wash.2d 621, 115 P.2d 1014; Berry v. Department of Labor and Industries, 11 Wash.2d 154, 118 P.2d 785, 140 A.L.R. 392.

This Court has furthered this strong public policy favoring injured workers by holding that when construing the Act, all doubts be resolved in favor of the injured worker.

"To this end, the guiding principle in construing provisions of the Industrial Insurance Act is that the Act is remedial in nature and is to be **liberally construed** in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker." Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash., 109 Wash. 2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). [emphasis added].

a. The issues for which review is sought are of a public nature.

The administration and construction of the Act by the Department, Board and lower courts affects thousands of Washington's injured workers annually. The construction and administration of the Act is of a public nature. Injured workers must be ensured that the adjudicators of their claims construe and administer the Act, the evidence and court rules in a way that upholds the purpose, goals and overriding public policy of: Promoting *just* determinations of actions; Eliminating unjustified expense and delay; Ensuring that the economic loss and suffering of injured workers is kept to a

minimum; and Ensuring that all doubts in construing the Act are determined in the injured worker's favor.

"The continuing and substantial public interest exception has been used in cases dealing with constitutional interpretation, see, e.g., Federated Publications, Inc. v. Kurtz, 94 Wash.2d 51, 54, 615 P.2d 440 (1980); the validity and interpretation of statutes and regulations, see, e.g., In re Wilson, 94 Wash.2d 885, 887, 621 P.2d 151 (1980); . . ." Hart v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 111 Wash. 2d 445, 449, 759 P.2d 1206, 1208 (1988) [emphasis added].

In *In re Marriage of Horner*, the issue concerned the interpretation of a statute. The Washington State Supreme Court stated,

"This issue is of a public nature because it concerns the interpretation of RCW 26.09.520 and because the Court of Appeals opinion was not limited to the Horner facts, but contained an interpretation of the statute." *In re Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wash. 2d 884, 892, 93 P.3d 124, 129 (2004).

The present case involves the construction of the Act (Title 51), which governs the processing of all injured workers in the State. The policy of the Act demands that the Board and the Courts construe the Act liberally.

EMPLOYMENTS INCLUDED -- DECLARATION OF POLICY

There is a hazard in all employment and it is the purpose of this title to embrace all employments which are within the legislative jurisdiction of the state. This title shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment. *RCW* 51.12.010. [emphasis added].

The legislature chose "liberally." Its meaning should not get lost or

glossed-over by the Board and lower courts at the expense of a fair and just hearing for the injured worker.

The Washington Supreme Court in *Dennis v. Dept. of Labor and Industries* discussed the genesis of Act, including the surrendering of civil remedies in exchange for more certainty and less struggle for the worker.

"In Stertz v. Industrial Ins. Comm'n, 91 Wash. 588, 590–91, 158 P. 256 (1916), this court explained the genesis of this state's workers' compensation scheme: The Industrial Insurance Act (Act), RCW Title 51, was the result of a compromise between employers and workers. In exchange for limited liability the employer would pay on some claims for which there had been no common law liability. The worker gave up common law remedies and would receive less, in most cases, than he would have received had he won in court in a civil action, and in exchange would be sure of receiving that lesser amount without having to fight for it. Industrial injuries were viewed as a cost of production.

RCW 51.04.010 embodies these principles, and declares, among other things, that "sure and certain relief for workers, injured in their work, and their families and dependents is hereby provided [by the Act] regardless of questions of fault and to the exclusion of every other remedy." To this end, the guiding principle in construing provisions of the Industrial Insurance Act is that the Act is remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker." Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash., 109 Wash. 2d 467, 469-70, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987).[emphasis added].

In the present case, the testimony of Mr. Young's independent

medical experts pertaining to his damages from the industrial injury was perpetuated in his third party tort claim. The tortfeasor's counsel defended the depositions and vigorously cross examined the experts. That testimony conformed to the standards of any perpetuation deposition or trial testimony.

Mr. Young offered this testimony in his Board hearing. The Department's interests were well represented by the tortfeasor's defense counsel. A tortfeasor who causes an industrial injury has more to lose, in both the dollar amount and type of damages, in the civil tort case than does the Department in the worker's compensation case.

The Board construed and administered the Act and the court rules and evidence rules in a way that placed unjust and unnecessary barriers on the injured worker. A liberal construction of the Act with all doubts in favor of the injured worker is the guiding principal in construction of the Act. Ensuring *just* determinations, *fair* administration of the rules, and *eliminating* unjust expenses and delay, are the guiding principles in construing the court and evidence rules. Forcing an injured worker to double-down on expertwitness costs to call his or her experts for a second time to say what was already said and perpetuated in the prior third party tort action upholds **none** of those policies.

When the event giving rise to an injury serves both as the industrial

injury and the subject of a civil tort claim, the issue in this case is public in nature. It involves the Court's interpretation, construction and administration of the overriding policy of the Act, the evidence rules and court rules.

The Court construed RCW 51.24.030, 51.24.060, RCW 51.24.060(1), 51.04.010, 51.52.100, WAC 263-12-117 and 263-12-115, Court Rule 32, in a way contrary to CR 1, ER 102, and contrary to the strong public policy for construing the Act. The Board and lower courts constued the Act and rules to arrive at a decision that favored *more* expense, *more* delay, *more* barriers and struggle, and *less* fairness and justice – all against the injured worker.

Mr. Young is a "claimant" as defined by the Act. The Board adjudicates worker's compensation claims under the Act. The source of benefits in this matter derive not from the civil justice system but from the Act. While the process may include use of certain civil and evidence rules, their construction and administration must still serve the overriding purpose and policy of the Act. Further, Superior Court Civil Rule 1 provides:

These rules govern the procedure in the superior court in all suits of a civil nature whether cognizable as cases at law or in equity with the exceptions stated in rule 81. They shall be construed and administered to secure the **just**, **speedy**, and **inexpensive** determination of every action. [emphasis added].

The Washington Supreme Court in *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance* recognized the overriding responsibility of the Courts to interpret the rules in a way that

advances just determinations.

"While we are not unmindful of the need for efficiency in the administration of justice, our overriding responsibility is to interpret the rules in a way that advances the underlying purpose of the rules, which is to reach a just determination in every action. See CR 1." *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 498, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997).

Regarding the purpose in construing the evidence rules, ER102 provides:

"PURPOSE AND CONSTRUCTION -

These rules shall be construed to secure fairness in administration, elimination of unjustifiable expense and delay, and promotion of growth and development of the law of evidence to the end that the truth may be ascertained and proceedings justly determined." [Emphasis added].

Judicial Council Comment to Evidence Rule 102, which per 5 Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice § 102.1 (5th ed.) was un-adopted but remains an accurate summary of the intent of the rule, provides in pertinent part:

"The rule is the same as Federal Rule 102. This generalized statement of purpose is comparable to CR 1, CrR 1.2, and RAP 1.2. The Rules of Evidence, like other court rules, give the judge the authority to interpret the rules in a way which avoids an unjust result. See Petrarca v. Halligan, 83 Wn.2d 773, 522 P.2d 827 (1974)." 5 Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice § 102.1 (5th ed.) [Emphasis added].

The construction and administration of the civil and evidence rules when processing and adjudicating Industrial Insurance Act claims is an issue that pertains to every injured worker who will ever have an industrial injury claim for benefits before the Board in Washington State.

Additionally, when the issue on which review is requested implicates due process rights, it is one in which there is *sufficient public interest* to warrant deciding it. *In re Dependency of H.*, 71 Wash. App. 524, 528, 859 P.2d 1258 (1993).

"The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." *Buffelen Woodworking Co. v. Cook*, 28 Wn. App. 501, 505, 625 P.2d 703 (1981), *quoting, Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976).

In *Buffelen*, the Court held that "an applicant for workers' compensation benefits whose claim is not fully adjudicated has a **property interest** of sufficient magnitude to trigger the application of procedural due process requirements." *Id.* at 505. [emphasis added].

Mr. Young's claim was gutted when he was not given a meaningful opportunity to present his two independent medical experts' testimony. The due process argument will be further developed in section 2 below, and is incorporated herein by this reference, for the sake of brevity.

b. The issues for which review is sought are likely to recur.

This issue may recur in any of the numerous on-the-job injuries every year that are caused by a negligent third party. This would include motor vehicle collisions, premises liability injuries, construction site injuries, or any other fact-pattern of on-the-job injury caused by a negligent third party.

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