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

IV. ARGUMENT 

This case does not merit review. CR 32(a) permits prior 

depositions to be used only against a party who "was present or 

represented at the taking of the deposition or who had reasonable notice 

thereof." Young admits he did not give the Department notice of the 

depositions he sought to use ·in his workers' compensation appeal. He 

argues that he should be relieved of this requirement because of the overall 

remedial nature of the Industrial Insurance Act and asks the Court to 

liberally construe the law in his favor. However, Young does not ask the 

Court to interpret an ambiguous provision of the Industrial Insurance Act. 

Rather, he asks the Court to apply liberal construction· to ignore 

unambiguous rules of civil procedure m the context of a workers' 

compensation appeal. Because the Industrial Insurance Act 

unambiguously requires all deposition testimony offered in proceedings 
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before the Board to conform to the requirements of the civil rules, Young 

fails to present an issue meriting ;review. RCW 51.52.100. 

Young also fails to identify a significant question of constitutional 

law. The exclusion of Young's depositions did not deny him a meaningful 

opportunity to be heard. Young was given a number of opportunities to 

present his witnesses and chose not to do so. He argues that calling his 

witnesses twice would have been too expensive, but he disregards the fact 

that his appeal to the Board already was in progress, and he could have 

saved the cost of additional depositions by giving the Department notice 

of his depositions. No issue of constitutional law is presented by a party 

who argues that due process. gives it an unqualified right to be heard under 

circumstances that exclude the opposing party from participation. 

A. Failing To Give a Party Notice Does Not Present an Issue of 
Substantial Public Interest 

This case does not present a matter of substantial public interest as 

Young asserts. The superior court excluded Young's depositions because 

he did not give notice to the party against whom he sought to use them. 

CP 291-92; CP 823-25. No dispute exists that Young did not give the 

requisite notice. Young, slip op. at 8. Nonetheless, Young asks this Court 

to grant review because of the "substantial public interest" involved in the 

"construction and administration of the Industrial Insurance Act." 
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Pet. at 6. Specifically, Young argues that as an injured worker, he is 

entitled to the protection of the Industrial Insurance Act's "strong public 

policy" favoring injured workers. Pet. at 7. In furtherance of that policy, 

he argues the liberal interpretation of the Act should inure to his benefit by 

allowing him to submit depositions he took without notice to the opposing 

party. Pet. at 11. 

Young's argument fails because he does not ask the Court to 

interpret an ambiguous provision of the Industrial Insurance Act. CP 344. 

Liberal construction applies only to the construction of ambiguous 

statutes. See Harris v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 

P.2d 1056 (1993) (the liberal construction rule does not apply to 

unambiguous terms in the Industrial Insurance Act). RCW 51.52.100 

states "no witness' [s] testimony shall be received" in a Board hearing 

"unless his or her testimony shall have been taken by deposition according 

to the statutes and rules relating to superior courts of this state." This 

statute is unambiguous in its requirement that parties follow the civil rules 

governing depositions in order for the Board to consider the testimony. 

CR 32 is equally unambiguous in providing that prior depositions may be 

used only against a party who "was present or represented at the taking of 

the deposition or who had reasonable notice thereof." 
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These provisions requiring notice to all parties about a proceeding 

are consistent with the spirit of the Industrial Insurance Act. The Act 

represents a compromise between business and labor. Minton v. Ralston 

Purina Co., 146 Wn.2d 385, 390, 47 P.3d 556 (2002). Each forfeited 

certain rights in exchange for the "sure and certain relief' provided by the 

Act. RCW 51.04.010; Minton, 146 Wn.2d at 390 (citing West v. Zeibell, 

87 Wn.2d 198, 201, 550 P.2d 522 (1976)). Such sure and certain relief, 

however, can be obtained only when all affected parties, the Department, 

the employer, and the worker, have the opportunity to be heard. See 

RCW 51.52.100 (providing that "the Department shall be entitled to 

appear in all proceedings before the board and introduce testimony in 

support of its order) (emphasis added). This ensures the fair adjudication 

of the issues contemplated by the Act. 

Young tries to sidestep CR 32's notice requirement by arguing that 

the Department is "the equivalent" of a "successor in interest" to the driver 

who struck him, if not a successor in the "technical sense" Pet. at 18, 1. 

He argues the driver's counsel "defended the depositions and vigorously 

cross examined the experts." Pet. at 11. Since the driver had "more to 

lose" than the Department, Young reasons "the Department's interests 

were well-represented by the tortfeasor's defense counsel." !d. 
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As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, the Department was 

not a "successor in interest" to the driver who struck Young because it did 

not follow the driver in ownership or control of property. See One Pacific 

Towers Homeowners' Ass 'n v. HAL Real Esta,te Investments, Inc., 148 

Wn.2d 319, 327, 61 P.3d 1094 (2002) (citing Black's Law Dictionary 

1283 (5th ed. 1979)). The Department was not a party to Young's 

separate tort action; it merely held a lien on his recovery. See 

RCW 51.24.030, .060. CP 117; 342-43. As· a lienholder on Young's 

recovery against the driver, the Department's interest in Young's tort 

action, if any, was derivative of Young, not the tortfeasor. CP 334-36. 

Moreover, its interest was not as a party to the action, but as the trustee of 

the fund from which it paid benefits to Young. See Chavez v. Dep 't of 

Labor & Indus., 129 Wn. App. 236, 241, 118 P.3d 392 (2005) 

(Department authorized by law to act as trustee of a fund for compensating 

injured workers); Mandery v. Costco Wholesale Corp., 126 Wn. App. 851, 

855-56, 110 P.3d 788 (2005) (purpose of statutory lien is to protect the 

state fund by providing for reimbursement so that funds are not charged 

for damages caused by third parties). CP 334-35. As a trustee, the 

Department owes fiduciary duties to the beneficiaries of that trust. 

Chavez, 129 Wn. App. at 241 (quoting Allard v. Pac. Nat'! Bank, 99 

Wn.2d 394, 403, 663 P.2d 104 (1983)). By contrast, the driver, whose 
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only interest was in contesting liability and limiting damages against 

herself, owed no such duties to the state fund. CP 292. 

Young's tort action also presented a separate set of issues than his 

workers' compensation claim. Young's tort claim involved common law 

issues of duty and breach. Cameron v. Murray, 151 Wn. App. 646, 651, 

214 P.3d 150 (2009). In his tort action, Young sought damages from an 

alleged tortfeasor for injuries negligently inflicted. By contrast, workers' 

compensation is a no-fault system. RCW 51.04.010. In his workers' 

compensation action, Young sought statutory benefits for a workplace 

lllJUry. The issues in Young's workers' compensation appeal were 

whether Young's injury occurred in the course' of his employment, 

whether his injury required further treatment, whether he was a disabled 

worker, whether he was entitled to vocational services, and alternatively, 

his degree of permanent partial disability. CP 292. These differences are 

profound. CP 292. Accordingly, the Department's interests were separate 

and distinct from those of the driver in defending the deposition. CP 292. 

The Department was therefore entitled to notice and an opportunity to 

participate in the event Young wanted to use his depositions against the 

Department in his separate workers' compensation case. CP 823-25. 

Not contesting that the successor in interest standards do not 

directly apply, Young argues that, in the context of a workers' 
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compensation appeal, "it makes little sense to interpret 'successor in 

interest' strictly or literally to disadvantage the injured worker." Pet. at 

19. It makes even less sense, however, to interpret CR 32 in such a way 

that permits a party to take evidence without notice to the other because 

they do so in the context of a workers' compensation appeal. The 

Industrial Insurance Act does not provide special rules for workers 

presenting evidence; rather the civil rules apply to all parties. 

RCW 51.52.1 00, .140. No issue of substantial public interest is presented 

by a party who does not follow those rules. 

Finally, neither CR 1 nor ER 102 requires admission of Young's 

depositions as he suggests. CR 1 provides that the civil rules "shall be 

construed in a way so as to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive 

determination of every action." ER 1 02 provides that the rules of 

evidence are to be construed in such a way as to avoid an unjust result. It 

does not follow, as Young suggests, that everything that is speedier or less 

expensive is permitted by the civil rules.2 Nor does CR 1 create authority 

for ignoring or overruling legislation. See Moore v. Flateau, 154 Wn. 

App. 210, 219, 225 P.3d 361 (2010). Young fails to show how a more 

"just" result could have been reached by interpreting the rules of evidence 

2 Parties before the Board bear their own costs in taking depositions. WAC 263-
·12-117(2). 
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in a way that would have allowed him to admit hearsay depositions taken 

without notice to the opposing party. The broad policy statements of CR 1 

and ER 102 concerning how the civil rules and the .rules of evidence are to 

be construed do not require a different result than that which was reached 

in this case under the more specific provisions of CR 32 and ER 802. 

Young's depositions were properly excluded. 

B. Failing To Provide Notice To a Party Does Not Present a 
Significant Question of Constitutional Law 

Young fails to present a significant question of constitutional law 

warranting review. "The fundamental requirement of due process is the 

opportunity to be heard "at a meaningful time and in a meaningful 

manner." Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. 

Ed. 2d 18 (1976) (quoting Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552, 85 S. 

Ct. 1187, 14 L. Ed. 2d 62 (1965)) (emphasis added). Young argues that 

the multiple opportunities he was given to call his witnesses were not 

"meaningful" because they would have required him to pay for his expert 

witnesses twice. Pet at 17. He argues this denied him an opportunity to 

rebut the expert testimony offered by the Department, citing Robles 

v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 48 Wn. App. 490, 494, 739 P.2d 727 (1987), 

and State ex rel. Puget Sound Nav. Co. v. Dep't ofTransp., 33 Wn.2d 448, 

489,206 P.2d 456 (1949). Pet. at 17-18. 
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Robles and Puget Sound Navigation are not on point. Robles dealt 

with a litigant who was denied due process because evidence outside the 

record was considered in deciding his appeal. Robles, 48 Wn. App. 

at 495. The court held that in the absence of an opportunity to "meet, 

explain, or rebut" the evidence, the claimant was denied due process. !d. 

Robles does not stand for the proposition that a worker has an unqualified 

right to present rebuttal evidence, or that a worker has a right to present 

such evidence without notice to the opposing party. Young never sought 

to present rebuttal testimony, and he identifies no evidence outside the 

record that was improperly considered in deciding his appeal. Moreover, 

his argument that calling his witnesses in both his tort action and workers' 

·compensation appeal would subject him to undue expense ignores the fact 

that he could have saved the expense of taking more than one deposition 

by giving the Department notice. 

Puget Sound Navigation likewise does not apply. In that case, a 

worker was denied due process because he was not given any opportunity 

to present evidence at a benefits hearing. Puget Sound Nav., 33 Wn.2d at 

489. Here, Young presented his own testimony as well as that of his 

medical provider and two lay witnesses. CP22-28. Young also was given 

several opportunities to present the testimony of Dr. Bays and Ms. Jones 

and chose not to do so. CP 825. As the Court of Appeals concluded, 
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Young had ample opportunity to be heard. CP 376. Unlike the worker in 

Puget Sound Navigation, Young asks the Court to find that due process 

gives him not just a right to present evidence, but to do so in a manner that 

excludes the other party against whom he seeks to offer it. The routine 

application of the notice requirements of the civil rules does not present a 

significant constitutional issue: 

V. CONCLUSION 

Young fails to identify either an issue of substantial public 

importance or of constitutional law meriting this Court's review. CR 32 

and RCW 51.52.100 are unambiguous and required exclusion of Young's 

depositions. The Department asks this Court to deny Young's petition for 

review.